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CHAIR PARKS: 
I open the hearing with two bills, and I will take them out of order and start 
with Assembly Bill 2. 
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 2: Revises provisions governing the Patriot Relief Account. 

(BDR 36-134) 
 
DANA GRIGG (Major, Assistant Staff Judge Advocate, Office of the Military):  
I would like to streamline and highlight simple housekeeping on Assembly Bill 2. 
On page 2, lines 21 to 22, Section 1, subsection 4, paragraph (b), we propose 
to remove the words, “who has been called into active service.” As your State 
militia, we are to be ready at all times. This will promote greater readiness for all 
of our service members in the Nevada National Guard. On lines 10 to 12, on 
page 2, in order to better manage funds, including the language “to the extent 
money is available” would enable us to determine who has the most need for 
those funds. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
I will close the hearing on Assembly Bill 2 and open the hearing on Senate Bill 
(S.B.) 170.  
 
SENATE BILL 170: Revises provisions governing public records. (BDR 19-560) 
 
SENATOR TICK SEGERBLOM (Senatorial District No. 3): 
Senate Bill 170 will do something I once said was impossible, try to get the 
public sector to work with the people who are trying to obtain access to their 
records in a way that is feasible, unburdensome and inexpensive. The American 
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Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) of Nevada has proposed a start of a process which 
we will continue to work on. The bill is intended to address our email issue 
because there has been a question whether our emails are public or private and 
how we can draw a line. Our legal staff informed me we do not have the ability 
legislatively to control our emails. The ACLU may have a different opinion, but 
my perspective is out of the bill and something I do not wish to pursue in the 
legislation.  
 
There are amendments that I neither support or oppose. Mr. Chair, if you agree, 
we can create a committee or ongoing workgroup to see what we can establish. 
I have worked on this public record issue for several Sessions. I made some 
progress, but the continual issue is about the effort the local governments need 
to put into it, what they can charge and then the extraordinary case where they 
want to charge for lawyers and other things. The question becomes what is an 
extraordinary case. This is an ongoing battle that includes the Nevada Press 
Association, public interest groups and, oftentimes, private entities or 
corporations when appealing rate cases or other things when they will make a 
records request. The government is using fees and costs to prevent people from 
getting what they are entitled. I think that is something we need to address.  
Holly Welborn from the ACLU will present testimony for your consideration. 
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
The dialogue is not really about the bill but the amendments that are proposed. 
Apparently someone has seen the amendments. 
 
SENATOR TICK SEGERBLOM: 
I have seen the proposed amendments, I just have not had the chance to weigh 
in on them. I apologize. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
The hearing is on the bill, not on the amendments that have been suggested or 
put forward.  
 
HOLLY WELBORN (American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada): 
I prepared my testimony for the bill and the amendments that we proposed. Are 
we not going to address amendments today?  
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CHAIR PARKS: 
My hope is to start with hearing the bill, but if you make notation or comment 
on the amendments, please inform us when your testimony is part of the 
suggested amendment. 
 
TOD STORY (Executive Director, American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada): 
We hope that the Nevada Legislature will support shedding a little more sunlight 
on government in the Silver State, as stated in my written testimony (Exhibit C). 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
In section 1, subsections 1 and 4, we seek to codify the way in which the 
public records law operates in practice. The majority of requests involve some 
type of preparation by the governmental entity that will then disseminate the 
information directly to the person. By adding “this person has the right to 
receive this copy” in the bill language, it is providing for the practice as it 
already occurs. 
 
Section 2 adds definitions to the public records law. The bill provides a 
definition for commercial use. The bill adds digital and electronic documents to 
section 2, subsection 7, paragraph (c) and also provides a definition for public 
use. Conversations with local government entities noted they required clarity on 
what “commercial” versus “public use” means. Our purpose is to provide for a 
statutory fee waiver. 
 
The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) states six factors that can be considered 
in granting a fee waiver on a public record request. Our hope is that we can 
codify that into State law. When we write a request, we have part of the 
request that states under FOIA we qualify for a fee waiver because we are a 
public use entity that is providing information to the public and it is not for 
commercial use. The original definitions in the bill seek to provide for that 
codification of the fee waiver, but in discussions we have reviewed the 
definition and require more clarity. In the amendment (Exhibit D), we add a 
public use entity or public use record request including but not limited to record 
“requests from a not-for-profit organization, educational institution, news 
reporter, or a private citizen for non-commercial use.”  
 
There were questions from individuals and entities we are working with on the 
proposed amendments. One question is whether news reporters qualify as 
public use entities or commercial use entities. Our answer under FOIA, the news 
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media are not required to pay for any search fees and are required to pay for up 
to 100 pages of copies if it is a paper request and nothing for electronic 
requests. News reporters meet the FOIA fee waiver test because the 
information is likely to contribute to public understanding of operations and 
activities of the government. News reporters are vital to an open and functional 
democracy. The requests are treated as public interest requests under the 
Freedom of Information Act. That is why they were named in the amendment 
definition. 
 
Section 3 changes allow the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) to be uniform with 
the right to receive copies. Section 4, subsection 4 requires the governmental 
entity to provide the record in an electronic format. This proposed addition is to 
be a service to the governmental entities that prepare these requests so they do 
not have to produce a mass volume of copies. The idea is all requests will be in 
electronic format unless otherwise requested or if the document or record is not 
available in electronic format. 
 
The intent of section 5, subsection 1, paragraph (c) is to place time limits in 
which a governmental entity must respond to record requests. Mr. Story’s 
testimony identified the obstacles when we have submitted record requests. 
Under existing law, governmental entities must provide the documents or 
communicate to the requestors that they have received the request within five 
days. The entity can propose an arbitrary date or timeline when the request can 
be fulfilled, and there is no provision under law to hold them accountable for not 
meeting the deadline. This bill would create a 15-day deadline to produce the 
documents once the request is received by the governmental entity. If it is 
impractical for the entity to fulfill in the 15-day time limit, the entity can provide 
written communication with specificity that it will take longer, and the deadline 
would be extended out to 35 days. Section 2, as written, has vagueness around 
the concept of extraordinary use under the Nevada Public Records Act.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
I am attempting to follow your testimony. When you refer to section 2, you 
mean subsection 2? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
It is section 5, subsection 1, paragraph (c), subparagraph (2), page 8 of the 
original bill, line 13.  
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The purpose is to identify and assist governmental entities for times when there 
is a record request that cannot be fulfilled within the 35-day time limit. What 
would be considered an extraordinary request from our perspective is a record 
request that requires extraordinary use of personnel and technological resources 
to fulfill because the process may require more than 35 days. The request must 
be for substantial information from the governmental entity which could require 
a new software program or hiring of personnel to fulfill the request. Some of the 
other transparency advocacy organizations thought it could be interpreted as 
providing a new mechanism through which a governmental entity can acquire 
an additional fee. We do not think it reads that way because under Nevada 
Revised Statutes 239.055, governmental entities have always been able to 
charge for extraordinary use requests. We added it to this part of the bill to 
reflect we understand that some requests can exceed the 35-day deadline. Our 
amendment completely strikes out section 5, subsection 1, paragraph (c), 
subparagraph (2) because the language needs to reflect that we are addressing 
timelines more than fees. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Are you speaking on this amendment? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
In amendment 2, it goes from section 9. It would be helpful if you would 
identify where you are in the paper copy of the amendment. 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
I am reviewing amendment 5 in Exhibit D, which strikes out section 5, 
subsection 1, paragraph (c), subparagraph (2). 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
You are striking extraordinary conditions in the amendment? It will not exist 
anymore? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
No. It exists in several other places throughout the bill and under the current 
public records law. The purpose of striking it from just the bill is because of the 
confusion it caused. This is the language regarding the clarification on the 
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amount of time governmental entities have to fulfill requests rather than the 
specification of fees. We will work on this with Senator Tick Segerblom. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
When you say “it is struck from the bill, but it is in other places,” do you mean 
it is struck from this bill regarding this amendment, but it is in other places not 
in this bill or as proposed in any amendment? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Correct. The extraordinary use of personnel and technological resources are 
provided for in NRS 239.055. This is not adding anything that does not already 
exist in public record laws. Under the public record statute, you can state or 
charge fees for a request that is voluminous, the request will take a lot of time 
or if fulfilling the request will require the ordering of a new software program. 
We place it in the bill to provide governmental entities with some guidance if 
they have a request that will go beyond the 35-day time limit.  It is quite 
confusing as we discuss whether the language defines it is creating a new fee 
or if it is a time limit or time restraint, and the language needs to be clarified. 
We are just striking it from the bill, not the law. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
The second line on your amendment 5 alludes to the additional fee in 
NRS 239.055 that still exists, but this language is striking that? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
No. I am sorry for the confusion. It is only striking it from the bill language. The 
original intent of this section, and having these two paragraphs together, was to 
limit the time frame in which the government entity can respond to a record 
request to a maximum of 35 days. The section 5, subsection 1, paragraph (c), 
subparagraph (2) request is similar to a reminder. If the request is overly 
voluminous and fulfillment of the request requires the governmental entity to 
create a new department or upgrade the software, this extends the 
governmental entity timeline beyond the 35 days. In the bill, it would be a 
repetition in the statute. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
I am sure I am going to see a mock-up of this. 
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CHAIR PARKS: 
We obviously will require a mock-up before we take action on this bill.  
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Section 6 allows the requestor to hold the governmental entity accountable for 
failure to meet the request within the statutory time limit. Current law states if a 
request is not met, you have a private right of action against the governmental 
entity. This provides the same right of action for not meeting the request in the 
time frame provided. Sections 7 and 8 create statutory fee waivers for public 
use requests. The language of extraordinary use is noted in these sections. 
Section 7, subsection 1, paragraph (b) provides for a copy without charge for 
the request if the request is for the public benefit or an electronic copy of a 
public book or record, unless the governmental entity provides written notice to 
the person who made the request that the request requires the governmental 
entity to make extraordinary use of its personnel or technological resources. The 
idea is a statutory fee waiver provides, if you are a nonprofit organization or  a 
public use entity making the request, that you will not be charged unless it is an 
extraordinary use request. The law provides if the request is extraordinary use, 
then the governmental entity can charge to fulfill the request. This is in place as 
notice to the governmental entity that fulfilling a record request is free unless 
you, the governmental entity, has proof it is an extraordinary request. 
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
Almost any request entities receive, they will have to fulfill it or write a letter. Is 
that how you interpret that? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes, this is how it works in practice. When you send a public records request 
under the current law, there are five days to respond to the request, meaning 
the request does not have to be fulfilled, but the entity must respond with a 
reasonable time frame in which it will fulfill the request. This provides for more 
communication throughout the process. Under this bill, if it is a public use entity 
requesting a fee waiver, it should provide a way for the governmental entity to 
respond that this is an extraordinary request, the reasons why and why there 
will be a charge for it. 
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
The entity would write a letter and the fees would be negotiated? 
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MS. WELBORN: 
Under law, governmental entities can set their fee schedules based on the 
actual costs. You can charge the reasonable actual cost of preparing the 
request. That law exists and is not proposed to change. The change is that for a 
nonprofit, educational institution, news reporter or a private citizen, the fees 
should be waived unless it is an extraordinary request. There should be a fee 
schedule posted in a conspicuous place.  
 
We have proposed amendments that subject the Nevada Legislature to the 
public records law. It is a matter of policy arguments and the reasons why. We 
agree the Legislature is entitled to certain privileges under the Nevada 
Constitution, but there are several states throughout the Country that actually 
subject their legislatures to public records laws and provide for privileges and 
immunities in their constitutions. Our takeaway is we urge this Committee to 
look at the states that have done this and how their constitutions compare to 
our Constitution. Understand, it is within the power and authority of the 
Legislature, whether it is under your paramount authority under the 
Constitution, to create the rules of the Body. The public does have an interest in 
knowing what meetings are going on. The Nevada Legislature has subjected 
other governmental entities to public records laws, and we hope and encourage 
that the Legislators do the same for themselves. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Is that an amendment floating out there somewhere, or is it attached to this 
amendment? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes, it is in the beginning of amendments 1 and 2. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Does this open the Legislature to the reality of the Open Meeting Law? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
That is not what we are proposing in our bill. This would not open up the State 
of Nevada Open Meeting Law. There is always that conversation, but in practice 
it would be impractical for the Nevada Legislature to comply with the Open 
Meeting Law, such as the 30-day requirements, while in Legislative Session. 
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SENATOR HARDY: 
Looking to what the sponsor of this bill said, this would not get the emails or 
into the caucuses? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Our proposal through amendment 1 applies to the Nevada Legislature for 
records that are kept during the course of the Legislative Session that are not 
privileged and fall under the public records law. The public would have the right 
to make requests for those documents, like calendars or meetings with 
lobbyists. These are records the ACLU feels are questions of ethics and the 
public has a right to see. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
What does the public not get then? All of that is interesting. 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
I do not think it is a matter of interest. The best way to look at it is looking at 
requests to Executive Branch agencies. Every Executive agency falls under the 
public records law. You make a request, say to the Attorney General’s Office, 
which has access to conversations you may have with lobbyists or particular 
interest groups. You make that request and ask for emails between Person A 
and Person B, in a specific period of time with a specific set of keywords, and 
the entities provide that information to the requestor through the Executive 
Branch. That is not something we are able to reach through the Legislative 
Branch. There are several reasons. There are several constitutional provisions, 
privileges and immunities clauses, also NRS 41.071, where it codifies those 
privileges and immunities. The Nevada Legislature has chosen to shield itself 
from the public records law. Our goal is to suggest to this Body to repeal that 
and in limited circumstances provide for more transparency. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
Referring to proposed amendments 1 and 2, you indicate that there are other 
states. Do you have a list of those states? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes I do. I have a comprehensive list of approximately 19 states that either 
through legislative act, statute, caselaw or rule of legislature apply the public 
records law to the legislative body in some way. Tennessee is an example that 
exempted the legislature from the public records law. In practice, the legislature 
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is required by rule to make a good faith effort to respond to records requests. 
Oregon, like Nevada, provides for legislative privileges and immunities in the 
state constitution, but it is a flip of what we are trying to accomplish. Oregon 
shields public requests during the legislative session and for 14 days after the 
session for nonprivileged documents that were created during the session. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
If you can provide the information you have to our staff, we would appreciate 
having that.  
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
What are the protections in the current public records request laws against 
frivolous requests? That person who wants to see everything and is not doing a 
targeted request, what does that look like today? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
There are no protections in the public records law, which is one of the concerns 
from governmental entities whom we are committed to working with and 
providing guidance. In proposed amendment 6, provisions provide the 
governmental entity with mechanisms by which it can communicate with 
requestors. If an entity receives a repeated request or very broad request and 
after communicating with the requestor to narrow the request and a threshold is 
met, the entity does not have to fulfill the request if the requestor cannot be 
more specific. 
 
SENATOR RATTI:  
If there is a record request for all of Senator Ratti’s emails from January 1, 
2016,  through June 30, 2016, would local government have to comply? 
 
MS. WELBORN:  
Current law requires the parties to work together. In practice in the ACLU, we 
are able to work with the governmental agencies to narrow those requests. In 
practice, governmental agencies do try to reach out to narrow the requests. But 
my understanding is no, there is not anything prohibiting that. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
I am less interested in practice and interested in current law requirements. 
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MS. WELBORN: 
My understanding of the public records law is that those broad requests need to 
be fulfilled. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
Other than in NRS 239, the word “public book” is a constant reference. Is the 
reference somewhere else in statute? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
That question is best for the Legislative Counsel Bureau because that was 
added in addition to what we submitted. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
In your testimony, you indicated that FOIA uses six factors. In your request for 
legislation, have you identified those factors? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
In the request for legislation, no. We based the definitions from what is provided 
in FOIA. The three beginning factors relate to public use requests: what type of 
entity is making the request; what is the purpose of the request and will it be 
used for public interest, public knowledge and public benefit; and if it will be 
used for commercial use can you delineate that. We can provide the FOIA. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
I am sure that is easy for us to ascertain. You talked at length referencing page 
8 of the bill. I want to concentrate on the extraordinary use. I am sure it is not 
an everyday occurrence, but it may be something that is requested every so 
often. Mr. Story commented about his request for information from 17 school 
districts and getting varying responses. Is there another example you can 
provide relative to what would be an extraordinary request? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
That is the huge conversation and major theme of negotiations in talking with 
governmental entities. It is quite hard to determine what requests are 
extraordinary and what requests are not because it is driven entity by entity. It 
depends on the resources of the entity, the staff available and how quickly the 
request can be fulfilled. Extraordinary to the perspective from the City of 
Henderson would be anything beyond eight hours to fulfill; however, eight hours 
for another entity may not be extraordinary. As an example, I did a public 



Senate Committee on Government Affairs 
March 15, 2017 
Page 13 
 
records request to three different police departments. One was able to return 
the request in a day, another department took 4 days and the other needed 
30 days to respond to me because they had a higher volume and I was 
requesting a more voluminous response from that particular police department. 
The department was able to fulfill the request at no cost because I worked with 
them. Time and money define extraordinary request.  
 
We are discovering what factors determine extraordinary use. I think that would 
be a beneficial amendment and beneficial for us moving forward with the 
governmental entities to zero in on what extraordinary means. In the Eighth 
Judicial District Court, Clark County, the Karen Gray v. CCSD case refers to 
extraordinary use. Under the Attorney General’s opinion anything exceeding 
30 minutes is considered extraordinary. In Karen Gray v CCSD, there was a 
request to the Clark County School District that took three hours to complete. 
The district wanted to charge Ms. Gray about $1,300 for the fulfillment and 
then reduced the fee to $135. The court found that the three-hour time frame 
did not constitute extraordinary use under the circumstances. There is much 
confusion. What we need to work on to be productive in this Session is 
determining a definition of what constitutes extraordinary use. We are 
committed to working with Senator Parks and governmental entities to figure it 
out. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
Let us say we have decided that five hours is extraordinary use. In 
understanding the bill, if it is more than five hours but is a request for the public 
good as opposed to a commercial response, the local governments would not be 
able to charge for it, is that accurate? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
It would be opposite of that. First off, we will probably never agree to locking in 
a time frame statutorily. As an example, we will use the City of Henderson’s 
eight hours to fulfill. Extraordinary use is any request requiring more than eight 
hours. I submit a public records request, it will only take five hours to fulfill, the 
governmental entity cannot claim it is an extraordinary use request, and there 
will be no charge. If it goes beyond the eight-hour time frame, then the City of 
Henderson can charge us the reasonable actual costs of preparation of the 
request. 
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SENATOR RATTI:  
So when does the commercial use or noncommercial use come in to play for in 
terms of charging? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
The government entity can charge for record requests for commercial purposes 
for any time. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
So you are only asking for that exemption from statutory fee if it is not an 
extraordinary request? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes, Senator Ratti, for a public use requestor. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Philosophically, can you share the difference between a subpeona and request? 
It almost sounds like you have the power to subpeona and a problem if you do 
not. 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
A subpeona is a judicially required request for which you can face jail time for 
not following through. It can promote into a criminal action, which is 
significantly different. With public records request, there are exemptions under 
the public records law where entities can limit confidential, privileged 
information. There are limitations. A governmental agency can communicate 
with the requesting organization. As an example, ACLU makes a public records 
request of the Attorney General’s Office, and there are exemption protections in 
the law. The Office can respond that the request cannot be fulfilled because it is 
exempted under a statute it cites. The requesting organization does have the 
authority to sue. There is a private right of action that can take the entity to 
court, but it is a decision to go that route. Civil penalties could be imposed upon 
the governmental entity. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
There are penalties either way? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
If entities are sued for not fulfilling the request, yes, they can be taken to court. 
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CHAIR PARKS: 
You made a comment when referring to page 8, the provision  proposing to 
write a program to generate information. It reminds me of a situation I had 
when employed in the public sector in the mid-1990s, a case where a citizen 
requested information relative to the start-up of the Las Vegas Transit System. 
One of the employees under my charge proceeded to spend several days 
assembling information for the requestor. I was unaware a citizen request had 
been received. The employee spent a lot of time to prepare a program to 
generate the information. I analyzed the documents and found it to be of no use 
to the requestor. It sounds like within this bill that a public entity would have to 
go to the effort of creating information in the format the requestor wants the 
information as opposed to providing information in the usual format that the 
agency typically handles. Will you comment on that? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
The Karen Gray case of Clark County gives some examples that warrant an 
extraordinary request: 30 minutes to comply or the creation of the new 
computer system or build a new facility. The governmental entity would have 
the argument that by having to create a new formatting system, the request can 
mature into an extraordinary use request. Under this bill, we are requiring 
electronic format of the request unless it is impractical or the requestor requests 
otherwise. Fulfilling the request in electronic format is a cost-efficient option. If 
the government entity cannot fulfill the electronic format, or it would be an 
impractical format for that governmental entity, the entity would need to work 
with the requestor to try to provide it at the lowest cost possible and in a 
practical format. 
 
CHAIR PARKS:  
When you say for that entity, you are referring to a governmental entity? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes, a government entity. 
 
CHAIR PARKS: 
I appreciate the electronic format because we have capability in that scenario. 
My example of a request from 20 years ago, I would have said we will give you 
this information and how you format it, analyze it, do what you want to do with 
it is up to you. The prior request I referred to, the requestor did not like the 
format that was being used and demanded it be manipulated and changed to 
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give a different result. I am concerned this bill may require public entities to 
perform data analysis and presentation for stuff they have no need to fulfill 
simply for the desire of a public or commercial use interest. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
It seems as we are getting a different direction from the courts. I question the 
interpretations that we have seen. If a report already exists, if a record already 
exists, it is eligible for a public records request and should be handed over 
efficiently and quickly because it is a record already created in the course of the 
staff of the entity doing their jobs. The part where there is data and fulfilling the 
request requires prioritizing our employees’ time. The decision is how we 
manipulate data to create reports into meaningful information for our use, to use 
to govern and manage. Must the data be used to create new reports that are 
not already in existence? Would that be eligible for a public records request? It 
is not new software, it could just be Excel, but how many versions must we go 
through to satisfy the needs of public requests versus the everyday operations 
of government? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
A lot of governmental entities will respond to requests stating that this request 
requires us to create a new format that does not exist or create a new 
document that does not exist. There are exemptions that provide for that. Mr. 
Story may be able to comment more on that, but I believe there are exemptions 
that cover that. However, then one of the problems is access to being able to 
search and redact emails, and when does it become a new document? Is it just 
the existing documents? The solution lies in finding a way for the governmental 
entity to communicate with the requestor. Go back to my example of going to 
three separate police departments and requesting the information in a particular 
format, but one of the departments could not provide it as requested. The way 
the department fulfilled the response was by sending us 200 printed-out 
versions of citations we requested, and that was fulfillment of that request. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
That was because the citations already existed? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
Yes, because the citations already existed. 
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MR. STORY: 
There is caselaw that states you do not have to necessarily create a new 
program as an expense to the agency. It is something you can charge for. If you 
are fulfilling a request that requires a specific format, the government does not 
have to fulfill the request in the format requested; the government can provide it 
in the format that it has available. The difference is whether you charge a fee to 
create a program to provide the information in a readable format or format that 
makes sense to someone, depending on what you reference. If you have to take 
data and put it into a format for someone to understand or interpret it, there lies 
the extraordinary use request as a trigger. To fulfill that request, the entity must 
take an extra step or take extraordinary measures in order to provide the 
requested data. I do not believe the law requires the agency to create the data 
for free. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
My question is whether law requires the agency to provide it at all as more data 
is available in our technological world. Decisions are made as to what to do with 
the data, the amount of time it takes to create the data and deciding if this data 
is useful to share with our constituents and city council in this format. My 
question is for local governments: Because someone prefers the data created in 
a different way, does the law not require them to do that? 
 
MR. STORY: 
You are correct. You cannot have multiple constituents asking for public records 
in different formats because it is their preference to view it in a format other 
than the format in which the request is fulfilled. Our part is to provide it in the 
format we have. The request is the trigger requiring the entity to create 
something new that does not exist, and the entity reserves the right to refuse or 
charge for it. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
If the data exists, but we are not pulling the data into any usable format 
because it is not the priority, does that stand? 
 
MR. STORY: 
The caselaw is whether a program has to be created in order to provide the 
document or information. 
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SENATOR RATTI: 
It comes down to what the definition of a record is. Is a piece of data a record 
or is a report that is created from many pieces of a data record? 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
The definition under this bill is going to apply to digital and electronic records 
kept by the governmental entity. I would interpret that as a specific piece of 
data that is generated. That concludes our presentation. 
 
BARRY SMITH (Nevada Press Association): 
I am testifying in support of S.B. 170. To improve time and responses to 
requests and lower costs to obtain records is a benefit we accomplish by 
working together on this issue. Three proposed amendments are below average 
for a records bill. A couple of points I have are examples of stories the press has 
done to show the benefits of what these records requests can lead to. 
 
There was the drought series in the Reno Gazette-Journal where reporters 
analyzed the top 1,000 water users. The Truckee Meadows Water Authority 
found the top water user used 11 million gallons a year on a private golf course 
even though the owner had died and golf was no longer being played on the 
property. The Reno Gazette-Journal also provided great public benefit to 
inspections reports on group homes for mentally ill clients. The Review Journal 
in Las Vegas researched the Clark County District Attorney’s practice of 
payments to witnesses in criminal cases that was controversial. In the north, 
the Gazette-Journal did a fascinating story on the Bureau of Land Management 
million-dollar request for a compound at Burning Man. A recent example was the 
Little Valley Fire that started from a controlled burn that got out of hand and 
destroyed 23 homes in Washoe Valley. There are response issues as well. The 
records request was fulfilled with information of the planning response and the 
aftermath of the burn, but there was nothing about the actual fire that 
destroyed the homes. It took a month to get the information in the first place. A 
second record request regarding the fire took another month to be fulfilled.  
 
The Gazette-Journal has a case pending in court for information on business 
licenses for medical marijuana operators involving the City of Sparks. 
The Las Vegas Review-Journal is in court with the Clark County School District 
over documents related to complaints against a school board member. The 
Review-Journal has also sued the City of Henderson for records about a 
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communications consultant and the question of fees to be charged for 
extraordinary use. 
 
I agree there can be a distinction in the statute for commercial requests. The 
news media requests are not commercial requests. They are a forum to 
enlighten the public in the examples I provided. I often represent the Press 
Association on records bills, but I do it as a member of the general public. There 
are rarely special circumstances afforded to reporters and news reporters. We 
act on behalf of the general public who should have access to the information 
as rapidly and inexpensively as possible. In general, we have made great 
progress in recent years. About three years ago, the State Library and Archives 
created the first Nevada’s Public Records Act Manual to guide us. We clarified 
the protocol of how to request records to the State and defined those records 
for officials to respond to the request. 
 
Senate Bill 170 is a good vehicle to bring more clarity to the records requests 
process. The only recourse for records requestors who are denied fulfillment of 
a records request is to go to court. Much of our interpretation of NRS 239 and 
the discussions today is from the interpretation that comes through the courts. 
The Legislature is afforded a good opportunity to clarify your intent of how you 
want it to work. The questions of extraordinary use, data, the types of reports 
and what is a document and the definition of a public record need to be 
clarified. 
 
TODD BAILEY (Nevada Accountability): 
I have a few comments based on the testimony today. The Legislature should 
be separated from this bill. It muddies the water. We already have issues with 
agencies and the Executive Branch on this issue, and the involvement of the 
Legislature confuses the discussion, which could be addressed separately or 
maybe in the next Session. 
 
In regard to extraordinary use, often when it comes to agencies or entities, 
extraordinary use is usually the question they do not want to answer. Clarity is 
required about what extraordinary use is, but clarity can be addressed with a 
report, say from a particular agency that has public records requests that seem 
to be extraordinary. Let us make that public. The governing body makes a report 
and reviews the three things that the body thinks is extraordinary. The public 
will know the results, there will be a discussion, and if the governing body 
thinks there is something to be done, it can vote to do that. The question marks 
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about extraordinary use will be removed from the discussion. We will have an 
idea of how many extraordinary requests come in and how expensive or hard 
the requests are to fulfill. 
 
I have an example from the Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) where a 
parent requested his child’s records. The department estimated it would take 
thousands of dollars to create the software program to produce the request. The 
department was required to provide that information under federal law and the 
department did provide the information. Clarity needs to define what an 
extraordinary circumstance is, and maybe there needs to be a report regarding 
how many come in. I do not see too many. I do hear about them occasionally, 
but generally it is frustrated citizens or the press or someone trying to get 
information. It is not just limited to those people.  
 
Elected officials, sometimes in the body they govern, are denied records 
repeatedly by staff and are often given excuses for the denial. I have had 
elected officials come to me and ask me to make the request because they 
cannot get the information. There has to be a penalty. I talked about that last 
Session. I would get with the sponsor and look at the idea of a penalty because 
if there is not some kind of civil penalty, we are going to be here every 
two years on this issue. We need clarity and understanding at both agencies 
and local governments that this information is required. The fulfillment could be 
in a standard format that everyone has access to. 
 
JOHN WILLES (Unified Construction Industry Council): 
The Unified Council is a body composed of the building trades in southern 
Nevada and signatory contractors. We support the concept of the bill. We think 
a uniform and consistent approach to public records for our labor unions and 
signatory contractors is essential, and we look forward to a resolution to this 
issue that is problematic from many standpoints. 
 
CHUCK CALLAWAY (Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department): 
Las Vegas Metropolitan is the twelfth- or thirteenth- largest police department in 
the Country. We cover an area approximately the size of the State of 
New Jersey and receive thousands of records requests daily. Many are simple to 
fulfill, but sometimes we get blanket requests very broad in nature requesting 
we want everything Officer X has done, or all the calls that occurred on the 
southwest part of town and who called those numbers. We recently had a 
request that came through Clark County that involves our Shared Computer 
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Operations for Protection and Enforcement (SCOPE) system, which is the 
criminal history database. The request was for the entire SCOPE system, 
requesting every record in the criminal history repository.  
 
The point is, many times the requests are broad in nature. We reach out to the 
requestor and narrow the request down by inquiring if there is a focus, a 
specific area for which records are being requested. Oftentimes, it is a fishing 
expedition and we do not get cooperation. It can be challenging when you get 
broad requests or very specific requests, and when fulfilled, the requestor 
responds that it was not what he or she was looking for. It is time-consuming 
and involves many resources. We had a request a few years ago for a report 
and data for an entire past decade. We house data, crime reports and 
information that often have personal information, victims’ identities, sometimes 
suspects’ identities, and the case may be ongoing. There is information on 
confidential informants, criminal history, critical infrastructure and a variety of 
data information on tactics involving specialized or military equipment or tactics 
involving investigating organized crime. It runs the gamut. All that information 
has to be reviewed and redacted before we can release what is available to the 
requestor. 
 
CHARLOTTE BIBLE (Assistant Counsel, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department): 
The requests can be complex and broad. Specifically referring to section 5 of 
S.B. 170, we have concerns and oppose the time frames listed, the additional 
15 days and 35 days. I understand the ACLU has an amendment that may 
remove the portion which would allow the governmental entity to extend the 
time frame further depending on the circumstances. Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Police Department has been successful in the manner in which we handle 
requests for records within the time frame. If we cannot provide a record within 
5 days, which we generally do, particularly for a single record request, we send 
a letter and advise the requestor we will respond within 30 days. We often 
respond before the 30 days and if we do not, we ask for additional time. 
Normally, it takes two weeks at a time for our extraordinary requests.  
 
The types of requests are complicated. Our records are not stored in one 
location. We do not have one database. We do not have databases that 
communicate with each other. Our databases allow queries but not the kind of 
queries Google handles. Requestors may ask for information that the 
Department does not maintain, requests are for records that are not part of the 
information we store to do our business. Finding within the agency whether we 
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have anything responsive to the public records request can be time-consuming. 
We are a large agency with 5,000 employees and perform proactive crime 
fighting to reactive first responder crime fighting. 
 
We object to the time frames because that may require additional monitoring by 
staff other than those working on the public records request. Section 6 
concerns us because it may invite litigation. It translates to a technicality that 
not providing the records by the deadline is a basis for filing litigation. We have 
many demands, and like most law enforcement agencies, we are required to 
perform duties with less staff. Our primary business is fighting crime and 
enforcing the law. Sometimes, the public records requests are complex and 
require coordination of different staff members in the agency. Sometimes, 
one person within the unit can determine if a particular program can produce the 
information being requested. It seems section 6 invites litigation and should be 
amended to promote communication and cooperation, not litigation.  
 
We also oppose sections 7 and 8, about which the ACLU testified, regarding the 
extraordinary use of personnel and what appears to be a fee waiver. We have 
concerns because the types of requests often involve extraordinary use of 
personnel. In some cases, we work with the requestor to narrow the request to 
provide manageable records. We had a request for 20 years’ worth of 
officer-involved shooting investigations. Those investigations are complex and 
can involve large binders of documents. The old records are kept in the evidence 
vault. In order to comply with the request, we had to pull records from the 
evidence vault, review them and redact specific parts of the records. It was a 
very time-consuming project. We negotiated with the requestor. The project fee 
was $10,000 and took 6 to 8 months to complete. The project required one 
person to forego normal duties to fulfill the request. We are willing to work with 
the ACLU and Senator Segerblom to make S.B. 170 workable for all parties. We 
request that any changes made to the record request law encourage 
cooperation and limit and narrow requests so the effort made for results and 
response are not so burdensome that they interfere with our day-to-day 
operations. 
 
MR. CALLAWAY: 
The point is that we respect the public’s need to obtain information. We want 
to comply, but it requires balancing with the impact on our agency and day-to-
day operations. 
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JOHN FUDENBURG (Clark County): 
We share many of the same concerns as Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 
Department. We try to be transparent with requests. For many requests, we do 
not charge fees and also work with the media to give what we can. However, 
we share the same concerns.  
 
LISA A. GIANOLI (Washoe County): 
Our Chief Civil Attorney reviewed the bill and amendments. He had a lot of 
concerns, but rather than go through all of them, looking at the bill based on 
questions the Committee members had, I see this is setting up more natural 
conflict than what we have. I understand the need to provide information, and 
we have a good process of doing so, but the bill needs more work to define 
these things to avoid it becoming more difficult. 
 
DAGNY STAPLETON (Nevada Association of Counties): 
For our members, it is always their intent to dutifully fulfill public records 
requests to the best of their ability, and they work hard to do so. We echo the 
concerns that have been articulated before, specifically the timeline and 
exemption from fees to fulfill noncommercial requests and how noncommercial 
is defined and determined. We are happy to work on the amendment with the 
sponsor. 
 
CONSTANCE J. BROOKS (Vice Chancellor, Nevada System of Higher Education): 
We echo the concerns for this bill. In particular, we have issues with the 
amendments introduced today. It was a struggle to follow the incorporation of 
the amendments. We look forward to working with a small working group with 
the ACLU to find a happy middle ground for satisfaction for the legislation, if it 
passes. 
 
CHAUNSEY CHOU-DUONG (Southern Nevada Water Authority): 
We are in opposition to S.B. 170. We believe in the importance of public record 
requests and transparency. Our issue is with the mechanics. We share the same 
sentiments and concerns that have been expressed. We have been in contact 
with the sponsor and look forward to working to provide a meaningful resolution 
for Senate Bill 170. 
 
BRAD KEATING (Clark County School District): 
I echo all the sentiments given today. We are in the business of teaching 
students. The amendments proposed today would affect producing the records 
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in a timely fashion, which could be a multiplier in a court case. It would tie us 
up in further litigation and costs for the District. We like to see our money spent 
on classrooms, not in court. We look forward to working with Ms. Welborn. We 
would support a working group to see this bill forward. 
 
RYANN JUDEN (Assistant City Manager, City of North Las Vegas): 
We share a lot of the sentiments expressed by both the Committee and local 
government in previous testimonies. I ditto the comments. It is clear in 
North Las Vegas that local government needs to be transparent. We have to be 
good stewards of the public dollars. There are frivolous provisions or the lack 
thereof in existing law. No doubt local government has to deal with records 
requests. The Nevada Press Association pointed out stories that were the result 
of public information requests demonstrating how effective the current system 
is by producing information for the public. Chairman Parks keyed in on an 
extraordinary use example which was significant. 
 
Extraordinary use can depend on the jurisdiction or be based on staff levels. The 
City of North Las Vegas has had a reduction in staff, and extraordinary use for 
us, something that could be a burden to us, may not be for someone else. A 
request might be a burden now that may not have been six years ago. 
 
It is important to make a distinction between records requests for commercial 
and public uses. We have people who do business with the City all the time and 
pay fees for things they do so that the public does not subsidize their 
commercial enterprises. The newspapers are a for-profit organization. They put 
out stories that attract readers. We are stewards of public dollars and need to 
ensure we are recouping the costs necessary to comply with these requests. 
 
BRIAN MCANALLEN (City of Las Vegas): 
The testimony by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department focused on a 
lot of our concerns for broad record requests and how to work with requestors 
to narrow down and deliver on complying with their requests. We have 
statistics on our response time to fulfilling requests and most are done quickly; 
however, some are lengthy and require staff reassignment. Our records are not 
all stored on-site, and it requires the hallways to be lined with cardboard boxes. 
Section 1 of the bill addresses commercial requests and requests for the public 
benefit. It is helpful to clarify that. We are willing to work with the sponsors to 
resolve some of our concerns. 
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SENATOR RATTI: 
Do you keep track of your public records requests? 
 
MR. MCANALLEN: 
Yes. We keep track the best we can within the various departments. In a period 
of a year, we had 25 requests through our government Website. There were 
2,036 requests processed within 1 week, 211 were processed within 2 weeks, 
80 were processed within 3 weeks, 44 were processed within 4 weeks. There 
were 129 requests that took more than 29 calendar days to process. 
 
SENATOR RATTI: 
Mr. Bailey’s suggestion to collect information in a report for a baseline of what 
an extraordinary request looks like sounds feasible.  
 
MR. MCANALLEN: 
Yes. 
 
BRANDON KEMBLE (City of Henderson): 
Senate Bill 170 does have concepts in the language, much of which has been 
proposed by the City of Henderson. The problem as presented and proposed for 
amendment seems like a piecemeal approach that is aggravating many problems 
voiced today. The big problem is that the amendments are not addressing the 
technical realities of today’s public records requests. Senate Bill 170 is still 
dealing with the cost of public records in terms of per page cost. It is not an 
accurate measure, omitting the resources required to respond to public records 
requests either from a personnel standpoint or as a technological solution. What 
is helpful is to hear examples. We had a recent request for all the emails for a 
particular employee at the City of Henderson. The request generated 
approximately 25,000 emails. We were not opposed to the request from a 
transparency perspective, but that query was for a person who deals with 
sensitive information. The request required the City to review each of the 
25,000 emails along with the attachments in different formats.  
 
We have an obligation as a public entity that holds confidential information 
under the Public Records Act to redact or withhold information before producing 
a document. To redact an email, there are only a few things to do. You can 
print the email and redact the information or convert the email to another format 
from its original .eml file in Outlook. The letter requires implementation of a 
purchase of software. The per page fee does not translate well for 
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Excel spreadsheets. Word documents are available in different formats, and this 
makes it complicated to respond to electronic requests.  
 
The City of Henderson has spent tens of thousands of dollars to adopt software 
programs and implement the programs to be able to respond to the voluminous 
requests. These requests would be a tremendous burden to smaller jurisdictions 
in the State, but it is what is necessary to respond to a lot of these requests. 
Our view of how the Public Records Act should be amended is to set clear 
expectations for the requestor of the information and the governmental entities 
responding to the information. Senate Bill 170 further complicates the issue in 
the Public Records Act by imposing the 35-day deadline, especially as set forth 
in proposed amendment 5. The example of the 25,000 emails to review and 
respond to in 35 days would be a Herculean effort on behalf of the City. It 
requires the reassignment of resources to respond. One problem with narrowing 
the requests with the requestor is that by working on the request and readying  
the information, we have spent the time on the request instead of the normal 
functions of the City, and the requestor does not show up to obtain the 
documents. 
 
We applaud the distinction of the commercial request versus the public interest 
request. The City of Henderson is not good at nor do we want to be in the 
business of determining people’s motives for making a public records request. 
What would be helpful in S.B. 170 is language that puts emphasis on the 
requestor to state whether he or she is making the request for a public or 
commercial interest and establish a penalty associated with misrepresenting the 
purpose of the request. The City of Henderson has attached a fiscal note. The 
amendments as proposed will drive an increase in the volume of public records 
requests and as Senator Ratti mentioned, we would need to enhance our 
technology to be able to track public records. Our fiscal note relates to the 
increase in costs and technology to track the public records requests.  
 
KENT ERVIN (Nevada Faculty Alliance): 
I signed the log in support of S.B. 170 as originally presented. In an abundance 
of caution because of all the amendments and confusion about what exactly 
those are, I am in a neutral position. I do support the working group. The 
general idea of electronic documents being delivered as electronic documents 
instead of being printed out to generate a page charge is a big one. Just getting 
there is important.  
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An example, at the NSHE budget hearing during this Session, we were asked 
questions about statements we made regarding classes of faculty. To provide 
information on numbers of faculty, different categories, and average and median 
salaries, we needed to invoke Human Resources at NSHE to find what those 
values were. It was easy for us to call the head of Human Resources and be put 
in touch with the person who could produce the fields to answer the questions 
and generate a report. The information in the database and the program that 
exists may require writing a few lines of script or may require checking a few 
boxes in an interface to generate the facts.  
 
What the requestor did not know is how the fields are structured and whether 
what I asked for originally was exactly what they had. A couple of emails and 
calls remedied that. The last call clarified some things and the report was five 
minutes total time, maybe an hour with the report writer and emails with his 
supervisor. It all worked. I went to make a similar request to figure out 
comparable employment classes in State government. I used the online form at 
Human Resources, but I did not get a response in five days, so I took a hard 
copy to the Human Resources Department. 
 
Cooperation and refining the request is important, but when the response is that 
I have to write a program, we need to define the time of what running a new 
software program would really mean. It should not just be, we have to write a 
few lines of script. Some of the databases have confidential information. We do 
not believe employees’ data like the beneficiary names should be part of the 
public record even though they are mixed in the same database, making it a 
public record.  
 
ROBERT FELLNER (Nevada Policy Research Institute): 
We are in support of the concept of expanding transparency, but we are neutral 
on S.B. 170 as written for a variety of technical reasons. One important factor 
is the competing interest of the cost this imposes on government. We have not 
heard a lot about why the Public Records Act exists. We do not need laws to 
inform our transparent government that does release information. In doing so, 
the Public Records Act was written to ensure governments that were not as 
forthcoming, as most Nevada governments, are to comply. Transparency in 
government is essential. Competing costs are by no means equal. Transparency 
in government is significantly more important. We suggest four amendments to 
S.B. 170 (Exhibit E). 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/GA/SGA469E.pdf
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Senator Parks asked about why the words “public book” is repeatedly in the bill, 
which speaks directly to one of my proposed amendments. Are “public books” 
and “public records,” which are the legislative terms used, defined anywhere in 
the Act? The Act makes public books or records available to inspection or 
copying to the public, but “public books” is not defined.  
 
Section 2, subsection 7 defines something called “official state record” which 
everyone uses as a definition. If we are going to pass a bill, we are 100 years 
overdue of defining what public books and records are. That speaks to 
Senator Parks’ question regarding why the Legal Counsel Bureau kept inserting 
“book,” because that is the actual legislative term. It is not “public records”, it 
is “public book or record”. I recommend adding a definition for that by replacing 
“official state record” with “public books or records” or refine the definition, 
Exhibit E. California has a fantastic definition that says information relating to 
the conduct of the people’s business.  
 
Public records are existing pieces of information or records. Under no 
circumstance are governments required to create new software, create new 
formats. But at their discretion, they are completely authorized to charge for 
doing so, but not required. I urge you to read the Nevada Supreme Court 
Opinion of 2013, Nevada Public Employees’ Retirement System v. Reno 
Newspapers, Inc. Under no circumstance is the government required to create a 
new database, new software or format data in a desired format. This is not 
something required under existing law.  
 
These laws and suggestions or proposed amendments are designed not for 
those already doing the right things but to ensure there is recourse in the event 
the information is not being presented. The only recourse now is to go to court 
at the private citizens’ expense. If they prevail, they get to recover the cost of 
attorney’s fees. In my amendment, Exhibit E, I propose to add a multiplier. 
 
MS. WELBORN: 
I look forward to working with the government agencies that testified today and 
expressed interest in our proposed working group which has turned into a public 
records summit, at a time to be determined. 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/GA/SGA469E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/GA/SGA469E.pdf
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CHAIR PARKS: 
I have a letter of support from Jim Hoffman for the Nevada Attorneys for 
Criminal Justice on S.B. 170 (Exhibit F) and a letter of opposition from the City 
of Henderson by Josh M. Reid (Exhibit G). 
 
I will close the hearing on Senate Bill 170. I will adjourn this hearing at 
3:05  p.m. 
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